1984

## The State of Utah v. Gordon P. Graves : Brief of Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

The appellant, Gordon P. Graves, appeals from a verdict by the judge of guilty in a criminal proceeding in which he was charged with the offense of Receiving or Transferring Stolen Vehicle, a Third Degree Felony, in violation of Utah Code Ann. §41-1-112 (1953 as amended) in the Third Judicial District Court, in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, the Honorable Homer F. Wilkinson, Judge, presiding.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The Appellant was tried before the bench on January 10, 1983, in the Third Judicial District Court and was found guilty of Receiving or Transferring Stolen Vehicle, a Third Degree Felony and was sentenced to incarceration at the Utah State Prison for the indeterminate term as provided by law.

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks to have the judgment rendered against him reversed and the case remanded to the Third Judicial District Court for a new trial.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On May 15, 1982, a 1982 GMC truck, Utah Plates LC 1991, was discovered missing from 1330 Beck Street. The vehicle belonged to Asphalt Sales located at that same address. No one was authorized to take the truck and the Appellant was not employed or known by the Asphalt Sales Company (T.4).

On July 6, 1982, South Salt Lake Police Officer, Lee O. Lindsay was on duty between 2:30 and 3:00 o'clock in the morning. He was working westside patrol in the Ninth West area and was in a patrol car (T.5). He had received a call of burglary approximately a half hour earlier and was checking the area (T. 6,14) when he observed the Appellant in a blue over silver truck exit from 2610 South northbound onto 900 West (T.6). There were two other vehicles at Treasure City Advertising which was the only business open in that area at the time (T.7).

The officer was southbound and made a U-turn to follow the vehicle. He checked the vehicle license plate number and determined that vehicle was the vehicle reported missing by Asphalt Sales Company. He followed the vehicle for a couple of minutes over a five city block distance passing through three

semaphores (T.7,14,16). The officer followed approximately 20 feet behind Appellant (T.11) and the Appellant never slowed down, speeded up or took any evasive action after the officer began following him (T.11). In fact, the maximum speed of the vehicles was no more than 25 mph (T.11). The Appellant was driving through Burningham's Truck Stop parking lot when he was finally stopped by Officer Lindsay and a back-up officer (T.11). Appellant pulled over immediately when Officer Lindsay activated the overhead lights (T.15). Appellant was then arrested, placed in the officer's vehicle (T.13), the vehicle was impounded and nothing was found in the vehicle (Id.).

#### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT TO CONVICT APPELLANT OF THE OFFENSE OF RECEIVING OR TRANSFERRING STOLEN VEHICLE UNDER §41-1-112, UTAH CODE ANN. (1953 as amended), AS THE STATE FAILED TO PROVE THAT APPELLANT "KNEW OR HAD REASON TO BELIEVE" THE VEHICLE WAS STOLEN.

The offense of Receiving or Transferring Stolen Vehicle §41-1-112, Utah Code Ann. (1953 as amended) provides:

Any person who, with intent to procure or pass title to a vehicle which he knows or has reason to believe has been stolen or unlawfully taken, receives, or transfers possession of the same from one to another, or who has in his possession any vehicle of the same from or to another, or who has in

his possession any vehicle which he knows or has reason to believe has been stolen or unlawfully taken, and who is not an officer of the law engaged at the time in the performance of his duty as such officer, is guilty of a felony.

This provision is part of the Motor Vehicle Code. Under that statute, one of the necessary elements of the offense is "knowing or having reason to believe" that the vehicle in question was stolen.

The question of what elements must be proved under this statute was raised in the case of State v. Porter, 502 P.2d 1148 (Utah 1972). There the court stated:

It is, of course, the responsibility of the state to affirmatively prove all of the essential items of the offense (citing State v. Gutheil, 98 P.2d 943). 502 P.2d at 1148.

In that particular case, the appellant contended that the State was required to prove affirmatively that the appellant was not "an officer of the law engaged in the performance of his duty." The court ruled that "exceptions that are not necessarily an essential and integral part of the definition of the offense, but are severable therefrom, need not be proved." 502 P.2d at 1148. Obviously, that element which requires the specific intent of "knowing or having reason to believe" is not severable but the fact is integral. The State, therefore, must affirmatively prove that the Appellant knew or had reason to believe the vehicle was stolen.

In State v. Petree, 659 P.2d 443,444 (Utah 1983) this Court stated, " . . . notwithstanding the presumptions in favor of the jury's decision this Court still has the right to review the sufficiency of the evidence to support the verdict." Further, the Court noted:

We reverse a jury conviction for insufficient evidence only when the evidence, (so viewed, is in the light most favorable to the verdict) is sufficiently inconclusive or inherently improbable that reasonable minds must have entertained a reasonable doubt that the defendant committed the crime of which he was convicted. (Citations omitted.)

Finally, the dissent in State v. Lamm, 606 P.2d 229 (Utah 1980) noted:

If the circumstances essential for conviction, are ambiguous and consistent with the innocence of the accused, then this Court must hold as a matter of law that there is no substantial evidence to support guilt of the accused. Id. at 234-35.

Viewed against this background, the evidence to support Appellant's conviction for Receiving or Transferring Stolen Vehicle is insufficient.

At trial, the State produced evidence that the vehicle was reported missing and Appellant was not known by the people at Asphalt Sales Company. Over a month and a half after the vehicle was reported stolen, the Appellant was discovered driving the vehicle in an industrial area in the early morning hours. The officer who saw the Appellant driving around was in a patrol car and visible to the Appellant. The Appellant continued driving

at his same speed and took no evasive action even though the officer followed him for approximately five city blocks. Further, Appellant stopped immediately when the officer activated the overhead lights. There was no evidence of foul play. In fact, the officer had been investigating a burglary and nothing was found in the vehicle to indicate Appellant had been doing anything other than driving the vehicle. Most importantly, there was no affirmative evidence that the Appellant knew or had reason to believe the vehicle was stolen.

While it is true that intent or knowledge cannot always be directly proven but must be inferred in light of the surrounding circumstances, there is nothing in the State's evidence to infer that required intent element of knowledge or reason to believe the vehicle was stolen. In fact the circumstances of the stop infer that Appellant had no guilty knowledge. He did not flee at the sight of the officer. He took no evasive action and, in fact, immediately pulled over at the direction of the police officer. Further, there was no evidence whatsoever of any illegal conduct during the course of the evening on Appellant's part. The State failed to produce affirmative proof of the required mental state of Appellant and therefore, the evidence was insufficient to convict him of the offense of Receiving or Transferring Stolen Vehicle.