1984

The State of Utah v. Gordon P. Graves : Brief of Respondent

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

Appellant was charged with Possession of a Stolen Motor Vehicle, a third-degree felony, in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 41-1-112 (1981).

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

In a bench trial held January 10, 1983, in the Third Judicial District Court, Salt Lake County, Utah, the Honorable Homer F. Wilkinson, Judge, presiding, appellant was tried and convicted of possession of a stolen motor vehicle. On January 26, 1983, appellant was sentenced to serve zero to five years in the Utah State Prison and fined \$1,000 as provided by law.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Respondent seeks affirmance of the judgment and sentence imposed by the lower court.

was arrested and was later charged with possession of a stolen motor vehicle (R. 9; T. 7, 10, 12-13).

At trial, Officer Lindsay testified that he did not pay much attention to the speed of the truck as he followed it (T. 11). He assumed that it was only going about 20 or 25 miles per hour (T. 11). And except at the truck stop, where appellant slowed down in the parking area, the officer did not recall seeing appellant speed up or slow down significantly during the time that he was being followed (T. 14-15). When asked if appellant had taken any evasive action during that period, the officer responded: "Not that I would -- unless he was trying to lose me in [the truck stop], which he was unsuccessful" (T. 15).

The truck that appellant was driving had been stolen from Asphalt Sales Company (T. 4, 9). At trial, defense counsel stipulated that Asphalt Sales owned a 1982 GMC truck, license no. LC 1991; that it discovered its truck to be missing from its shop on May 15, 1982; that it did not know who had taken the vehicle; that no one was authorized to take the vehicle; and that appellant was neither known nor employed by the personnel at Asphalt Sales (T. 4).

The record does not indicate that appellant offered an explanation to Officer Lindsay, at the time he was stopped by the latter on 2100 South, regarding his unauthorized possession of the truck. Neither was any evidence adduced at trial to justify or explain that possession (T. 19).

truck in his possession, and (3) that appellant knew or had reason to believe that the truck was stolen. Appellant does not dispute that the first two elements of the crime were proved. The issue, then, is whether there was sufficient evidence adduced at trial to support a finding by Judge Wilkinson that appellant knew or had reason to believe that the truck he possessed was stolen.

One acts with knowledge when he is aware of the nature of the existing circumstances. Utah Code Ann. § 76-2-103(2) (1978). Since guilty knowledge, like intent, is a state of mind and is rarely capable of direct and positive proof, it may be inferred by the trier of fact from the actions of the defendant and from surrounding facts of circumstances. See State v. Murphy, Utah, 674 P.2d 1220, 1223 (1983); State v. Brooks, Utah, 631 P.2d 878, 881 (1981).

With regard to permissible inferences, or presumptions of fact (as they are often called), the Court in State v. Brooks said:

This Court has defined an "inference" as a logical and reasonable conclusion of the existence of a fact in a case, not presented by direct evidence as to the existence of the fact itself, but inferred from the establishment of other facts from which by a process of logic and reason, based upon common experience, the existence of the assumed fact may be concluded by the trier of fact. An inference does not disappear from a case but goes to the fact trier to be weighed along with the contravening evidence because all inferences, which are capable

Not only is it "deeply rooted in our law," id. at 843, it is a rational inference. As indicated in United States v. Taylor, 334 F. Supp. 1050 (D. Pa. 1971), aff'd, 469 F.2d 284 (3d Cir. 1972):

[T]he presumption of guilty knowledge that arises from recent possession of stolen goods is not statutory in origin, but is a long recognized rule of common law. It is supported by good sense and everyday experience: United States v. Coppola, 424 F.2d 991, 993 (2d Cir. 1970). For centuries, unexplained possession of recently stolen property has been accepted as evidence of wrong-doing. As a permissible inference for the jury, it satisfies the requirements of due process: United States v. Johnson, 140 U.S. App. D.C. 54, 433 F.2d 1160, 1169 (1970).

Id. at 1057 (emphasis added). And in the Barnes case, the Court affirmed the Court of Appeals' finding that there is no lack of "rational connection" between unexplained possession of recently stolen property and knowledge that the property is stolen. Barnes, 412 U.S. at 841, 843-846, 846 n.11.

Statutory and case law in Utah also recognize the validity of the inference of guilty knowledge in such

States, 165 U.S. 486, 502-503 (1897). Many state supreme courts have also upheld the use of this inference. See 29 Am. Jr. 2d Evidence § 229 (1967 & Supp. 1983), and cases cited therein. Cases from nearby states which have so held include Wells v. People, 197 Colo. 350, 354-355, 592 P.2d 1321, 1324-1325 (1979) (instruction on knowledge presumption of ancient vintage), Hughes v. State, 536 P.2d 990, 992-993 (Okla. Crim. App. 1975) (per curiam); People v. Lyons, 50 Cal. 2d 245, 258, 324 P.2d 556, 562 (1958); State v. Salzman, 186 Wash. 44, 47, 56 P.2d 1005, 1007 (1936).

the same with regard to burglary). Regarding the inference contained in the former larceny statute, the Kirkman Court observed:

This statute has nothing to do with burglary and applies only to charges of stealing. However, one who has possession of recently stolen property would be faced with the situation of having adverse inferences drawn against him, and such inferences together with all the other evidence might be enough to convince a jury beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was guilty of larceny even in the absence of the statute above quoted.

The same adverse inference will confront a defendant in a burglary case where he has possession of recently stolen property which could have been obtained only by a burglarious entry into a building. There would be a duty upon the one in possession of such property to explain his possession if he is to remove that adverse inference against him pointing toward his guilt; and if he gives a false account of how he acquired that possession, or having a reasonable opportunity to show that his possession was honestly acquired he refuses or fails to do so, such conduct is a circumstance which may be considered by the jury along with all other evidence bearing upon the case in determining guilt or innocence.

20 Utah 2d at 46, 432 P.2d at 638-639 (emphasis added).

Other jurisdictions have also extended the inference to robbery cases. See Wells v. People, 197 Colo, 350, 354-355, 592 P.2d 1321, 1324-1325 (1979), and cases cited therein. Still others have extended its application to cases of "receiving and possessing stolen property." See, e.g., Combs v. Commonwealth, Ky., 341 S.W.2d 774, 775 (1960)

Finally, that the inference may be validly drawn with regards to cases involving stolen vehicles is further evidenced by the federal courts' application of the inference in cases brought under the National Motor Vehicle Theft Act, or Dyer Act [18 U.S.C. §§ 2311-2313 (1982)]. See 15 A.L.R. Fed. 856 (1973 & Supp. 1983), and cases cited therein. Summarizing the law as applied in those cases, American Law Reports notes the following:

[U]nexplained possession is deemed guilty possession . . . and this may serve to permit an inference that the possessor, whether or not he is shown to have been the thief, knew that the vehicle was stolen. . . .

Id. at 859. The Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals has held, for example, that

possession by the defendant of the recently stolen automobile justifies the inference that the possession is guilty possession and may be of controlling weight unless explained by the circumstances or accounted for in some way consistent with innocence. [Seefeldt v. United States, 183 F.2d 713, 715 (10th Cir. 1950)].

McManaman v. United States, 327 F.2d 21, 25 n.3 (10th Cir. 1964). See also Garrison v. United States, 353 F.2d 94, 95 (10th Cir. 1965) (Utah case). The federal courts' application of this inference to cases involving the possession of stolen motor vehicles is logical and supports the conclusion that the inference should apply in cases prosecuted pursuant to similar state laws, such as § 41-1-112.

164, 459 P.2d 763 (1969). And, as recognized by this Court:

[I]t is a fact of life that one in possession of stolen property who makes no explanation as to how he came in possession is apt to be under some adverse consideration as to his honesty; and if he has an explanation as to how he innocently came into possession of the stolen property, he would certainly improve his situation by giving his account of how it happened to the [trier of fact].

State v. Murphy, Utah, 617 P.2d 399, 405 (1980).

Fourth, appellant was found driving the truck less than two months after it had disappeared from the owner's place of business (T. 4, 6-7, 13-14, 19) and thus was in possession of recently stolen property. See State v. Merritt, 67 Utah at 335-336, 247 P. at 501 (four months was not "of such length as to take the case out of the category of 'property recently stolen'"); United States v. Robertson, 417 F.2d 873, 878 n.2 (5th Cir. 1969) (the shorter the period between the theft and defendant's possession, the stronger the inference of guilt).

Under these circumstances, the trial judge could properly have inferred that appellant knew that the truck he possessed was stolen, and having found that element, concluded beyond a reasonable doubt that appellant had violated § 41-1-112.

When considering a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence supporting a conviction, this Court has applied